### **Executive**

Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 6 February 2019 at the Town Hall, Royal Leamington Spa, at 6.00 pm.

**Present:** Councillors Mobbs (Leader), Butler, Coker, Phillips, Rhead, and Thompson.

**Also present:** Councillors: Boad (Liberal Democrat Group Observer), Quinney (Chair of Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee); and Naimo (Labour Group Observer).

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs Falp, Grainger and Whiting.

#### 133. **Declarations of Interest**

<u>Minute 136 – Business Case for Extension of the Avon Navigation Scheme</u> for Stratford (Alveston) to Warwick

Councillor Rhead declared an interest because he had a house that boarded River Avon and the matter of the Avon Canal was to be discussed, but he did not feel that was a prejudicial interest.

#### 134. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 January 2019 were taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

#### Part 2

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was not required)

#### 135. Rural / Urban Capital Improvement Scheme (RUICS) Application

The Executive considered a report from Finance providing details of two Rural / Urban Capital Improvement Scheme grant applications:

- Warwick Tennis Club to resurface and install floodlights to court six to resolve current health & safety issues with the court surface and to increase court usage capacity by enabling later evening and weekend playing time; and
- Hill Close Gardens Trust to build an extension to the existing visitor centre to create an additional visitor's room to create further capacity for viewing their horticultural collection and for community group activities.

The Council operated a scheme to award Capital Improvement Grants to organisations in rural and urban areas. The grants recommended were in accordance with the Council's agreed scheme and would provide funding

to help the projects progress. Both projects contributed to the Council's Fit for the Future Strategy.

Warwick Tennis Club was situated in the Warwick West Ward, a recognised income deprived area. Without the club, there would be fewer opportunities for the community to enjoy and participate in sporting/physical and social activities, which could potentially result in an increase in anti-social behaviour, an increase in obesity and disengage and could weaken the community. The project would resolve current health and safety issues with court six and increase court usage capacity by enabling later evening and weekend playing time. The project would therefore increase opportunities for the community to enjoy and participate in sporting/physical activity, including children, which helped to reduce anti-social behaviour and obesity.

With regards to Hill Close Gardens Trust, the gardens were situated in the Warwick West Ward, a recognised income-deprived area. Without the gardens, there would be fewer opportunities for the community to enjoy and participate in physical, social and arts/cultural activities, which could potentially result in an increase in anti-social behaviour, an increase in obesity and disengage and weaken the community. The Trust had an overall three-phase project. Phase 1 project which the RUCIS grant would contribute towards would build an extension to the existing visitors centre, creating an external shell for an additional visitors room and with completion of the Phase 2 project to equip and fit out the new room, which had firm funding plan in place, further capacity would be created for visitors to view the horticultural collections and for community group activities, such as yoga and meditation, which would further help to reduce anti-social behaviour and obesity and engage and strengthen the community.

In terms of alternative options. the Council had only a specific capital budget to provide grants of this nature and therefore there were no alternative sources of funding if the Council was to provide funding for Rural/Urban Capital Improvement Schemes.

Members could choose not to approve the grant funding, or to vary the amount awarded.

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

(1) a Rural/Urban Capital Improvement Grant is approved, from the urban cost centre budget for Warwick Tennis Club, of 50% of the total project costs to resurface and install floodlights to court six, as detailed within paragraphs 1.1, 3.2 and 8.1 of the report and as supported by Appendix 1 to the report, up to a maximum of £17,766 including VAT, subject to receipt of the following:

- a. written confirmation from Warwick Town Council to approve a capital grant of £1,000 (if the application is declined or a lower amount agreed, Warwick Tennis Club will increase their loan application to the Lawn Tennis Association to cover the budget shortfall);
- b. written confirmation from the Lawn Tennis Association to approve a loan for £5,000 (this will increase to £6,000 if Warwick Town Council decline the grant application as noted above); and
- written confirmation that planning permission has been granted for the installation of floodlighting (application number W/18/2224);
- (2) a Rural/Urban Capital Improvement Grant is approved from the urban cost centre budget for Hill Close Gardens Trust of 33% of the total project costs to build an extension to the existing visitor centre to create an additional visitor's room, as detailed within paragraphs 1.1, 3.2 and 8.2 of the report and as supported by Appendix 2 to the report, up to a maximum of £30,000 excluding VAT, subject to receipt of the following:
  - a. written confirmation from Warwick Town Council to approve a capital grant of £5,000 (if the application is declined or a lower amount agreed, Hill Close Gardens Trust will cover the shortfall from their cash reserves which have been evidenced through provision of their annual accounts and recent bank statements).

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Whiting)

# 136. Business Case for Extension of the Avon Navigation Scheme from Stratford (Alveston) to Warwick

The Executive considered a report from the Chief Executive presenting the outcome of the high-level assessment of the environmental and the socio-economic impacts of a scheme to extend the Avon Navigation Scheme from Stratford (Alveston) to Warwick.

At its meeting on 28 June 2017, the Executive agreed to the request from the Avon Navigation Trust (ANT) for support to look further at the

principle of the proposal for the extension of existing navigation on the River Avon from Alveston, north of Stratford to the Grand Union Canal at Warwick.

In November 2017, the Executive agreed to make a contribution towards a study covering a high-level assessment of the environmental and of the socio-economic impacts to demonstrate if there was a realistic business case. This was estimated to cost, including a contingency, £45,000. It was agreed that the cost be split three equal ways between ANT, Stratford District Council (SDC) and Warwick District Council (WDC). This would mean that WDC would have to pay £15,000. This was funded from the Community Project Reserve. SDC offered to undertake the procurement exercise. The work was tendered and Peter Brett Associates (PBA) was appointed to undertake the work.

The final reports from PBA were available online and a link was provided in the report. The key points emerging were set out in Section 8 of the report. In summary, the economic case for the scheme was not so overwhelming, given the expected capital costs and the significant environmental issues that would require further work to ensure they could be addressed adequately.

However, the proposal within the report that had merit was to work in partnership with SDC for improved public access along the river corridor between Stratford and Warwick. Here the respective costs were lower, the economic benefits more significant and the environmental consequence much less. If this could be developed along with improvements already discussed by the Executive in a report in November 2018, then it had the potential to create a significant asset for community use, as well as a significant "green" tourism opportunity for the sub region.

As an alternative, the Executive could decide not to proceed in any way at all, yet the evidence collected suggested that an improved public access to the river corridor could have a potential beneficial economic impact but a low environmental one.

The Executive could decide to continue with the Avon Navigation Scheme, but there was not sufficient economic evidence to justify that course of action and it was therefore not recommended.

Councillor Butler, the Portfolio Holder for Business, emphasised that the report made it clear that the environmental issues and the cost did not stack up and he could not support it. Councillor Butler proposed the report, with an amendment to Recommendation 2.2 in the report, to read: "That the Council works in partnership with Stratford District Council to promote and improve footpath / cycleway access along the River Avon corridor between Warwick and Stratford only, in view of the environmental issues and capital cost of the rest of the scheme."

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

- (1) the study setting out a high-level assessment of environmental and the socio-economic impacts of the proposal to extend the Avon Navigation Scheme from Stratford (Alveston) to Warwick, be noted; and
- (2) the Council works in partnership with Stratford District Council to promote and improve footpath/cycleway access along the River Avon corridor between Warwick and Stratford only, in view of the environmental issues and capital cost of the rest of the scheme.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Butler)

#### 137. IT Equipment for Councillors 2019 to 2023

The Executive considered a report from Democratic Services and ICT Services bringing forward the recommendations from the Councillor IT Working Party in respect of IT provision to Warwick District Councillors from 2019 to 2023.

Prior to the 2015 Election, officers had very clear guidance that email was the primary application for Members and that they wanted to access this on a lightweight, portable device. However, this device still needed to be large enough to read and create documents. This steered them towards a tablet and once that decision was made, there was no real choice but to provide Apple devices for two reasons: security and the availability of Apps. The mapping App and Committee papers app provided at the time were only available on iOS. The choice of Apple was also the preference of ICT's portfolio holder at the time.

The iPads currently used by Councillors were a mixture of devices, but the most prevalent model was an iPad Air WiFi & Cellular 32GB. These were purchased with an expected lifespan of four years (the duration of the Council). This was based on the evolution of technology, battery life and that Apple stopped providing software updates for older models. This was built into the IT replacement programme and budgetary provision had been made for this.

The Councillor IT Working Party had reviewed this provision ahead of the next election in May 2019 and they supported maintaining the flexibility of a mobile tablet device, recognising that many Members also had a laptop or PC at home for accessing Microsoft Office 365 if they chose to do so.

Although maintaining a tablet was the Working Party's consensus, whether that was an Android device or an Apple device was less clear cut. Nevertheless, there were a few items for consideration:

- with the loss of the mapping App, the requirement to choose Apple was removed;
- in terms of security iOS vs Android, it was still stacked heavily in Apple's favour: there was more malware aimed at Android devices, it got through more often, and security updates were slower in rolling out (not least because Google's hardware partners were involved as well as Google). Apple devices weren't invulnerable to hacking attempts, but they were much more tightly locked down, and one didn't have to worry about security quite so much. While Android security had improved, it was fair to say one needed to be a little more on your guard. Given this, and given the broad spectrum of IT capabilities of Members, some Members might feel more reassured when using an iOS device;
- anecdotally, the ICT Helpdesk did have less issues with Apple devices than Android and this was believed to be because the Apple devices were locked down tighter, whereas the Android devices tended to be re-skinned by the vendor. Again, given that Members tended to use their devices outside of the Helpdesk support hours, and that there were very few calls relating to the operation of Apple devices, Members might consider this was another benefit;
- it could also be suggested that both an iOS and Android based device were offered to Councillors, for them to choose from. However, it was most cost efficient to support a single type of device (through less training and sundries required), and the iOS platform was considered to be more intuitive when supporting a broad range of IT skills;
- in terms of price, there was a need to be very careful when comparisons were made. Clearly, one could buy some very cheap Android devices, and that was one of their benefits. However, one needed to be mindful of build quality and processor power. Therefore, depending on the Android model, iPads were not vastly more expensive.

Based on the above, the Working Party were of the view that the new device should be an iOS (Apple) based product. They then considered the size of the device to be provided, but after consideration of cost, they were of the view that the 9.7inch model provided the best value for money for the needs of Councillors. They also recognised the cost benefit in purchasing devices, which if needed, could take a sim card (i.e. to make it a cellular device), to enable Councillors to access information when they did not have a Wi-Fi connection. This would allow flexibility within other decisions that needed to be taken.

The Working Party considered in great detail the need for Councillors to be able to use their iPad and have a data connection at all times (through Wi-Fi or 4G), to enable them to work effectively. Considering the information available, including feedback from Councillors, the majority of Councillors' work was completed on a Wi-Fi network, either at home or within the

Town Hall/Riverside House. The Working Party recognised the need for Councillors to attend meetings in other venues, but that the information could be downloaded to the Council-owned device and accessed at the venue without the need for a network connection. They looked at the level of data usage by Councillors who currently had 4G access and the two key user groups were the Leader and those Councillors who worked. The Working Party recognised the need for the Leader, Portfolio Holders, Committee Chairman and Group Leaders to be in regular contact with officers over various matters and that the current budget only allowed enough for 31 Councillors to have 4G access. They therefore considered the approach outlined in recommendation 2.2 in the report was the best way forward at this time.

A significant amount of data was already available for Councillors to access via their Council device and account as set out at Appendix 1 to the report. Progress had been made in enabling further information to be accessed, for example the Intranet. In discussions with the Councillor ICT Working Party, it had been established that further areas should be investigated for making available via the mapping tool, as well as a homepage for Members to use as a sign post to various Council services such as the Constitution. These were also listed at Appendix 1 to the report and would be detailed within the 2019/20 ICT Services Digital Work Programme, considered at Minute Number 140.

The Council made its Committee papers (including the confidential ones) available to Councillors on Council devices through a secure app. The app provided the ability for annotation, in a number of ways, on any agenda by the individual Member. This was going to be promoted to all Councillors with a WDC device in January 2019, following an upgrade to the system and its server. This was with the view of the Working Party that more Councillors should be using electronic agendas instead of paper-based agendas. In doing this, it contributed to the Council being more sustainable through reducing printing and paper consumption (a cost of £4,900 per annum), but also the reduction in road miles an agenda travelled to be delivered) and reduced the cost of postage to the Council (£3,800 per annum).

With the increased information available to Members there would need to be regular support and training opportunities for Members throughout the life of the Council 2019-2023. These would be considered and built into the Member Development Programme for the future years to help Members get the most benefit from the information available to them.

There would be some residual level of value for the device and those current Councillors who either did not seek election or who were not reelected might wish to keep the device. There might be some spare devices and it was considered appropriate these were offered to staff to buy with those interested being selected at random via a draw. It was considered that £150 would be a reasonable sum of money and this would contribute to the provision of any new iPads. The Council was content for the devices to be sold in this way, but the device would need to be reset first by the

ICT Services Team to ensure all Council data had been removed and also to remove the applications which managed the device for the Council.

It was considered that any printers that had been allocated to Councillors would now be life expired as some were nearly eight years old. Again, Councillors who either did not seek re-election or who were not re-elected might wish to keep them but this would be without charge and those who did not want to keep them could pass them to the Council for disposal, in line with the Council's Waste Electrical Equipment procedure.

The Executive had previously agreed not to provide printers to Councillors unless there was a specific personal reason for them requiring one. These cases were considered in consultation with the relevant Group Leaders. This approach did not need to change, except that decision should be taken in consultation with the Councillor ICT Working Party.

The Councillor IT Working Party had been an exceptionally useful group for resolving issues and considering both the detail/strategic issues of IT provision to Members. It was considered that this Group should continue after the election with a view to meeting more often (if necessary in a virtual setting) to not only to continue the development of IT for Members, but also to act as advocates for the technology being used.

The secure handling of data was an important area of good governance for the Council, not only the personal information Councillors handled but also the commercially sensitive information. Consideration had been given to this matter and officers were mindful that Councillors used their own devices to access Council information and also had paper copies of information with no guidance on destruction of these. The policy was being developed between the Councillor IT Working Party and the Information Governance Manager for the Council.

It was recognised that Councillors were permitted to use their own personal device to install some apps and therefore there should be no restriction in them using their Warwickshire County Council device in a similar manner if they so wished.

The Councillor IT Working Party considered a number of alternative options in respect of IT provision to Councillors.

The iPads currently provided to Councillors had a residual value on the open market of between £100 and £180, depending on the condition and warranty offered. Therefore, more money could reasonably be requested for the sale of the iPads but because these had already been recognised as surplus, it was considered the smaller price reflected the lack of a warranty offer and the condition they were in.

The working party had considered charging for the printers, however, they would be of minimal value (circa £5) and processing the payment would cost more than the income received.

An option could be to provide Councillors with an allowance to provide their own device – Bring Your Own Device (BYOD). However, this approach was fraught with a number of issues. Firstly, the Council needed to ensure that all Councillors had access to appropriate systems to undertake their role. Depending on the device chosen by the Councillor, this could not be guaranteed. Therefore, providing an approved Council device on which all proposed solutions were tested, guaranteed this. Secondly, allowing numerous devices could provide additional support demands on the ICT Service if they were required to get an application working as it was the Councillors' only device. The current approach required ICT to get the necessary functionality working on an approved Council device and ICT would use best endeavours to help Councillors to access systems from a personal device.

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

- (1) all Councillors be provided with a 9.7 inch iPad with 32GB capacity and cellular capability and note the funding of £16,500 will be from the ICT equipment renewal reserve;
- (2) mobile data for the Leader, Portfolio Holders, Committee Chairmen, Group Leaders and on the provision of a business case by the Councillor to be considered by the Councillor IT Working Party, be approved;
- (3) the information already available to Councillors electronically and the expansion of this along with additional training and support/promotion, is welcomed and noted;
- (4) printers will not be provided to Councillors unless there is a specific requirement due to a disability as defined within the Members' Allowances Scheme;
- (5) the current iPads used by Councillors (including the cases they come with) will be disposed of at a cost of £150 with them being offered to Councillors, then staff as set out in paragraph 3.10 of the report;
- (6) any Warwick District Council printers held by Councillors can be kept, at no charge, by the Councillor if they wish to keep them;
- (7) after the Warwick District Council election, the Councillor ICT Working Party is retained with membership from each of the Political Groups

- on the Council plus a Member of the Executive;
- (8) the production of a data handling agreement for Councillors which supplements the current Information Security and Conduct Policy specifically for Councillors is supported Members look forward to considering this at either its March or April meeting; and
- (9) in line with agreed Policy, and so long as Warwickshire County Council are agreeable, a Councillor can install Office 365 and CMIS on their Warwickshire County Council tablet, however, this would not provide access to the intranet.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Mobbs) Forward Plan reference 851

#### 138. Local Development Scheme (LDS)

The Executive considered a report from Development Services seeking approval for a refreshed Local Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS set out the work of the Planning Policy team over the next three years in terms of the production of planning documents, was a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and was updated annually.

The adoption and publication of a Local Development Scheme was a statutory requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which laid out the coverage and duration of the document required. This included a provision for an annual review of the Scheme to ensure it remained relevant and up-to-date.

The Warwick District Local Plan (2011–2029) was adopted in September 2017, and as such, a revision of the LDS was required to detail the Development Plan Documents (DPD) and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) that were required to support the Local Plan and add further detail for applicants and decision makers.

Much of the programme of work was driven by commitments within the recently adopted Local Plan. As well as these commitments, additional work would arise in response to either local planning issues or changes in national legislature. Where possible, these were factored into the Scheme, and a refreshed LDS was produced annually to reflect progress made and any new areas of policy being worked on.

The 2017/18 LDS was adopted by Executive in March 2017. It detailed seven SPDs to be adopted during the financial year. During the course of 2017/18 so far, three SPDs had been adopted, one had completed public consultation with a further three currently undergoing public consultation.

Due to the restrictions of purdah, it was likely that at least one of the outstanding SPDs would not be adopted prior to the summer of 2019.

Members should note that there had been alterations made to the timing of certain documents included in the LDS. The Canalside DPD had been put back to begin its consultation in the Autumn of 2019 to allow for the necessary analysis to take place in the context of the recently adopted Canal Conservation Area. Also, the Affordable Housing SPD had been put back to begin its consultation in Quarter 3 2019 in order to allow for further work to be done on housing need assessments in light of the recent standard methodology consultations.

Two new documents had been added to the LDS. Firstly, an SPD for the South of Coventry that would articulate the delivery requirements of the vision for the growth and development of the area, as per Policy DS20 and Appendix B of the Local Plan. Secondly a Development Design Framework SPD that responded to the revised NPPF's greater emphasis on quality design, as well as the best practice encapsulated in Building For Life 12.

There was also a new work stream in the LDS to review the evidence base and policy context of the Plan, in line with Policy DS19 of the Plan. Once this work had been completed, officers would be able to update Members with whether any further work was required.

There was also a statutory requirement for an Authority's Monitoring Report (AMR) to be published at least annually. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 laid out the required content of the AMR. As agreed by Executive in March 2018, the AMR was published on the WDC website in the Autumn of 2018.

In terms of alternative options, the Council could choose not to adopt this Local Development Scheme, and instead to suggest a different range of priorities for the identified documents. However, the LDS had been developed to bring forward the right documents as swiftly and efficiently as possible. Therefore, this option had been discounted. The preparation and maintenance of an LDS was a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Councillor Naimo expressed her desire to monitor the progress made and to think of the weight that the Creative Quarter might have. She expressed her opinion that there was a need for a Town Centre development area for Royal Leamington Spa. In response, Councillor Rhead, the Portfolio Holder, confirmed that Councillor Naimo's request would be taken into account.

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

(1) the content of the LDS attached as Appendix 1 to the report, be noted;

- (2) the adoption of the LDS and its proposals for delivery of planning documents over the forthcoming three years, be agreed; and
- (3) the Authority's Monitoring Report (AMR) was published on the Council's website in the autumn and can be found at <a href="https://www.warwickdc.gov.uk/amr1718">www.warwickdc.gov.uk/amr1718</a>.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Rhead) Forward Plan reference 997

### 139. Delivery of St Mary's Lands Masterplan for 2019/20 and beyond, Warwick

The Executive considered a report from the Chief Executive seeking to update progress on the delivery of the agreed Masterplan for St Mary's Lands, Warwick, thus far. The report also sought agreement to the next steps for delivery and for the appropriate funding to complete this key project for the town of Warwick and the District.

The work of the St Mary's Lands Working Party led to the adoption of a Master Plan in 2017, which set out all the projects that would enable the vision for the area to be achieved. In this past year, the most significant elements that had been completed included resurfacing of the inner perimeter track enabling improved and safer access for all, extension of the 'canter down' to enable the national cycleway to be off road, completion of the Multiple Use Games Area (MUGA) at Racing Club Warwick (RCW), improvements to the Corps of Drums premises, improvements to toilets at the Golf Course which were available for the public to use and ecological enhancements to support the area's biodiversity and wildlife.

Additionally, Hill Close Gardens, a stakeholder in the St. Mary's Lands project, had secured new lottery funding to enlarge its current visitor centre building and implement a programme of much improved interpretation at the gardens.

Alongside these improvement works, other issues had been taken forward, for example, consultation of the proposals along Bread and Meat Close for car parking and for the footpath/cycleway. Preliminary work had also continued in respect of the possible hotel, improvements to the Golf Centre and Caravan Park. RCW had gone into partnership and established an Academy and was actively looking at a 3G pitch via funding from the Football Association. Discussions had also been undertaken about character areas to help address the conflict of differing activities. Two community newsletters had also been produced and a link to the most recent one was provided in the report.

Appendix 1 to the report set out all the Master Plan proposals, their current status and the next steps where that was appropriate over the next few years. Table 1 attached to the report set out the financial

proposals which sat alongside Appendix 1. Map 1 attached to the report illustrated the respective location of each proposal.

In addition, the Executive considered a report in late November 2017 in respect of the hours of flying for model aircraft. A risk assessment and a noise assessment had been undertaken. The ecological work was commissioned but was found to be inconclusive and so the work had had to be re-commissioned over a longer survey period. The report back to the Executive would not happen until that work progressed.

In January 2019, the Executive considered a request from the Friends of St Mary's Lands for the Council to submit an application for Centenary Field status. The report concluded that only one part of the area merited an application – the Northern Enclosure on the basis that there appeared to be a link with a former building, Hill House, which had been used as a hospital for WW1 soldiers. However, further evidence had now come forward to demonstrate that Hill House and its garden were completely separate from the Northern Enclosure, meaning that the Council would not be able to justify an application for this designation. However, the Northern Enclosure would still be suitable for the designation Green for Good and that was the proposal now put forward.

The only other option the Council had was not to note progress. Similarly, not to agree for the elements of the masterplan to proceed would be a reputational risk for the Council, given the efforts that had been made to engage local groups.

There could be options of which elements of the programme should be done when, but as set out, the programme was reasonably logical and took account of the limitations that the racing season might place on when some elements could be implemented.

The Council could decide not to make any application for any designation on the northern Enclosure and that option was available to it should it so choose.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report.

Councillor Butler, the Portfolio Holder, was pleased that the Masterplan was successful and its benefits were starting to ring home. The Leader of the Council on behalf of the Executive thanked Councillor Butler as the Portfolio Holder, the officers and all other parties involved for their excellent work.

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

(1) progress on delivery of the Masterplan as set out in Appendix 1 of the report to date, be noted:

- (2) the proposals for 2019/20 also as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be agreed;
- (3) the funding for the proposals for 2019/20 totalling £257,000 as set out in Table 1 attached to the report, be agreed and be funded from the Community Projects Reserve;
- (4) the slippage of £255,000 from 2018/19 to 2019/20 as shown in Table 1 to the report, be agreed; and
- (5) the previous recommendation (January 2019) to apply for Centenary Field designation for the Northern Enclosure be changed to apply for the Going for Green designation from Fields in Trust.

(The Portfolio Holders for this item were Councillors Butler and Mrs Grainger) Forward Plan reference 963

#### 140. **2019/20 ICT Services Digital Work Programme**

The Executive considered a report from ICT Services seeking approval for the 2019/20 ICT Services Digital Work Programme, providing a progress update of the current programme and some of the other Digital Strategic themes, both of which were key to the office relocation project and in preparing for the migration to the new office headquarters.

The ICT and Digital Strategy 2015-19 identified five strategic themes. Digital Security naturally sits above these themes. Appendix 1 to the report contained a detailed explanation of the progress made towards the Digital Warwick theme during 2018/19 and the ongoing commitment for 2019/20. In addition, it also provided updates of the latest Digital security improvements and of the remaining four themes, including projects to support our Digital Workforce in an increasingly agile environment and in preparation for the migration to the new office headquarters.

A number of projects had been completed during 2018/19. These projects either originated from the earlier Digital Work Programmes or were subsequently identified as a high priority. A table of these projects was provided at Section 3.2.1 of the report and included Building Control Completion Certificate Self-Serve Requests, Development Control – mitigating critical data from spreadsheets, Frontline self-serve kiosks, Improved Planning Committee speaker requests etc.

A number of projects detailed in Section 3.2.2 of the report were still in progress from the 2018/19 Digital Work Programme and included: A barcode generation system for miscellaneous payments, Fly-tip Reporting, Integrating Jadu web forms with maps and automated progress updates, Lone Worker Monitoring System etc.

Several projects had been withdrawn from the 2018/19 Digital Work Programme, details of which were provided in Section 3.2.3 of the report. These included: Corporate Filed Payment Solution, Corporate Purchasing Card System, Litter Bin issue reporting etc.

Based on the learning points from the 2017/18 Digital Work Programme, the following changes were made by the ICT Application Support Team (who resourced the technical elements of this programme):

- all support calls were now routed via the ICT Service Desk;
- calls requiring ICT Application Support Team expertise were managed via a staff rota; and
- a member of the Desktop Services Team had been working closely with the ICT Application Support Team.

These changes were implemented over a period of six months and had reduced interruptions, increased resource availability and opportunities to collaborate on projects, and improved the support capability within the team. In addition, the main learning points from the 2018/19 Digital Work Programme were:

- it had continued to be challenging for Service Areas to maintain their business as usual service while also releasing the most appropriate staff to design and test their transformational solutions;
- the ICT Application Support Team's availability for development work continued to be affected by the volume and complexity of the support calls or other unplanned projects that it handled.

These learning points had been formally recognised within the Chief Executive's Office Risk Register, under the generic risk "Failure to deliver corporate strategies / initiatives" which was included in the 8 January 2019 Finance and Audit Scrutiny Committee report attached as Appendix A to the report. However, the delivery of the Digital Strategy specifically carried a 'red' risk status. As a result, the following steps would be taken:

- to reduce the burden on multiple Service Areas having to resource a range of transformational projects, the 2019/20 Digital Work Programme had been redesigned to focus on a single Service Area which had already committed sufficient resources;
- service area staff had been encouraged to make ICT Services aware at the earliest opportunity of any proposed project work so that it could be factored into the overall work programme;
- the ICT systems knowledge base was being continually improved so that more calls could be handled by the Desktop Services Team at the first point of contact, helping to reduce some escalations to the ICT Application Support Team; and
- the Neighbourhood Services projects would be developed using the Agile Development Methodology, so that the new solutions would be developed, tested and implemented, in manageable increments, in tandem with relevant back office processes.

The pace of change required to embed digital transformation across the organisation had not yet been reached for a number of reasons and this had prompted a shift in the strategic approach for the 2019/20 Digital Programme.

As mentioned in Section 3.2.6 in the report, one of the Digital Programme learning points was the burden placed on Service Areas to resource a range of different transformational projects. To reduce this burden, the 2019/20 Digital Programme would focus primarily on the high volume of public interactions currently manually handled by the Neighbourhood Services teams.

While the focus would be on Neighbourhood Services, the other service areas would use 2019/20 to think about more comprehensive service changes which would inform future Digital Programmes.

Appendix 2 contained the 2019/20 Digital Transformation Work Programme which included the new projects contained in Appendix 3 to the report.

The remaining projects had been carried forward from the 2017/18 or 2018/19 Work Programmes as a result of supplier or internal delays.

The Work Programme was based on project urgency and importance, internal staff resource / third-party availability and any anticipated procurement requirements. In addition, ICT Services resources would be impacted by a major project to migrate all our Business Applications onto new servers to maintain data security compliance standards.

A table included in Section 3.3.6 of the report summarised the anticipated customer and business benefits for each project in the 2019/20 Digital Programme. Business Cases had not been submitted as these projects would be managed using the Agile Methodology.

In addition, the Application Support Team (who resourced the Digital Programme) would also be heavily impacted by Migration of all Business Applications onto new servers, Supporting the project to procure a replacement to the Civica-APP, Supporting the project to procure new Finance Systems, Supporting the office relocation project and Project to review the ICT resources required to fulfil the ongoing Digital Programme. The business benefits of these were included in Section 3.3.7 of the report.

The Digital Programme budget currently stood at £97,800 and would be used to fund the outstanding 2017/18 and 2018/19 projects. At this stage, it was anticipated that the new 2019/20 Digital Programme projects would incur only minimal costs and therefore no additional funds were required.

To protect the funds made available for this Work Programme, each project would be subject to a detailed financial review to ensure all costs

had been identified, before agreement to release the funds was made by the s151 Officer.

In terms of alternative options, the option not to continue down the 'digital route' was discussed in the 2 December 2015 Executive Report and it was accepted that while there would always be situations when it was entirely appropriate for a customer to transact with a member of staff, many of the Council's services did not need to be delivered in this way. Continuing with the proposed Digital Transformation Programme advocated in this report would be financially efficient and would provide an improved customer experience.

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

- (1) the ongoing progress made in all areas of the Digital Strategy, including improving the digital security offering and also the return on investment made in the provision of high speed broadband services within Warwick District, with the full updated included in Appendix 1 to the report, be noted;
- (2) the progress made in 2018/19 with the ICT Services Digital Work Programme as set out in the 7 February 2018 Executive Report, including a number of learning points, be noted;
- (3) the 2019/20 ICT Services Digital Work
  Programme which will primarily focus on
  various projects to improve the public-facing,
  internal processes and contractor integrations
  provided by the teams in Neighbourhood
  Services, as set out in Appendix 3 to the
  report, be agreed;
- (4) the digital programme seeks to balance the resources available in both the front-facing service areas and in ICT Services, and a report will be submitted later in the year addressing whether further ICT resources are needed;
- (5) these projects, and any outstanding from previous years, will be funded from the existing Digital Transformation budget, which has a residual balance of £97,800;
- (6) the release of funds for this Programme will be subject to a detailed financial review of

each project's requirements and will require sign off by the s151 Officer.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Mobbs) Forward Plan reference 999

### 141. Response to the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Review Follow Up Visit 2018

The Executive considered a report from the Chief Executive informing Members of the response to the Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge Review follow up visit 2018.

The Council agreed to be part of a Peer Challenge process organised by the LGA in the summer of 2016. The outcome of that peer challenge was reported in April 2017. An action plan was agreed and as part of that plan, to help ensure and demonstrate that the Council was making progress, a follow up visit was to be undertaken. That follow up visit was made in October 2018 and the report of that visit was attached to the report, along with recommendations and a proposed action plan in response.

This work overlapped with the Investors in People assessment and there were some similar themes emerging to those emerging from the LGA peer review follow up.

The LGA offered a Peer Challenge that was free to all of its members as part of its commitment to support Sector-Led Improvement. It was one of a number of resources made available to help councils continuously improve. The peer challenge process involved a team of experienced elected Members and officers who, as peers, provided practitioner perspective and critical friend challenge to help a Council with its improvement and learning. It was a voluntary process and councils were encouraged to commission one every four to five years.

Warwick District Council had its first Peer Challenge in 2012 and a follow up visit in 2014. After a further two years, it was felt appropriate to undergo another Peer Challenge as part of the Council's ongoing commitment to continuous improvement. The Peer Challenge was held in July 2016, reported to the Executive in April 2017 and in response to the recommendations it was agreed that a follow up visit should be undertaken within 12 to 18 months. That visit was held in October 2018 and the report of that visit with its recommendations was attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

The Peer Review team made four recommendations. In response to these recommendations, an action plan had been prepared, which was attached at Appendix 2 to the report. It was considered that the proposed response to the Peer Challenge Report would help the Council to clarify and achieve its goals, expedite its key projects to delivery and achieve improved partnership working.

Overlapping time-wise and issue-wise had been the most recent Investors in People (IiP) report. That report was attached at Appendix 3 to the report. This was reported to the Employment Committee in December 2018 and an action plan in response would be prepared. Nonetheless, it was felt that given the overlaps, there was merit in this also being presented to the Executive at the same time as the LGA Peer Review follow up visit.

The most significant issue arising was that within the approach of the Council seeking continuous improvement and not being complacent about how and what it did, that as part of its intention of being a high performing organisation it needed to update its performance management approach. To this end, Senior Officers were considering in a facilitated way what this might mean for the organisation and the way it was managed.

In terms of alternative options, the Council could decide not to agree the proposed action plan or indeed any action plan, but this option had been rejected as the Council sought the review follow up visit in the first place as part of its own commitment to continuous improvement and not to agree any actions to the recommendations would therefore be perverse.

The Council could decide alternative action in response to particular actions and, whilst that was for the Council to consider what they might be, they were not easily to identify.

Councillor Mobbs, Leader of the Executive, commented that he had found the process beneficial because it promoted thinking. He proposed the report, with a correction to Appendix 2, page 12 of the report, 1a to read "Training / facilitated briefing workshop *Dec 2018 and Jan 2019*".

The Executive, therefore,

#### Resolved that

- (1) the LGA Peer Challenge follow up visit report at Appendix 1 to the report, be noted;
- (2) the Action Plan attached as Appendix 2 to the report, developed in response to the key recommendations of the LGA Peer Challenge follow up visit, be agreed; and
- (3) the Investors in People (IiP) report at Appendix 3 to the report and an action plan in response will be considered by the Employment Committee, be noted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Mobbs)

#### Part 1

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was required)

#### 142. Treasury Management Strategy 2019//20

The Executive considered a report from Finance detailing the strategy that the Council would follow in carrying out its treasury management activities in 2019/20.

The Council's treasury management operations were governed by various Treasury Management Practices (TMP's), the production of which was a requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management code and which had to be explicitly followed by officers engaged in treasury management. These had previously been reported to the Executive. There had been a few changes to various Treasury Management Practices (TMP's) as follows:

#### TMP 1 - Risk Management

- Paragraph 2.1(a,d,e) changes in minimum sovereign country rating for counterparties residing outside the United Kingdom from "at least equal to the UK's" to "minimum sovereign rating of AA-". This had been recommended by Link, the Council's treasury advisers, to help mitigate any potential adverse effects of Brexit in terms of a downgrade to the UK's sovereign credit rating on the Council's ability to invest its funds. Additional details were provided in paragraph 1.4 of Appendix B to the report.
- Paragraph 2.1(k,l) redefinition of Constant Net Asset Value Money Market Funds to Government Debt Constant Net Asset Value Money Market Funds and introduction of Low Volatility Net Asset Value Money Market Funds following reform of European Money Market Funds.
- Paragraph 2.2 increase in counterparty limits as outlined in paragraph 2.7 of Appendix B to the report.

#### TMP 4 - Approved Investments, Methods and Techniques

 Paragraph 2.1(j) – changed to reflect the new definition of Money Market Funds as per TMP 1 above.

#### TMP 11 - Use of External Service Providers

- Paragraph 1.3 (h) changed to reflect the new definition of Money Market Funds as per TMP 1 above.
- Paragraph 2.1 updated to reflect change of treasury advisers name from Capita Treasury Solutions Ltd to Link Asset Services.

Finally, the various TMP's had been updated throughout to reflect:

 the new definition of a short term investment as outlined in the 2018 Investment Guidance issued by MHCLG i.e. one that was 365 days or less; and  the change of name from Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).

Under CIPFA's updated Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice, the Council continued to be required to have an approved Treasury Management Strategy, within which its Treasury Management operations could be carried out. The proposed Strategy for 2019/20 was included as Appendix A to the report.

This Council had regard to the Government's Guidance on Local Government Investments. The guidance stated that an Annual Investment Strategy had to be produced in advance of the year to which it related and had to be approved by full Council. The Strategy could be amended at any time and had to be made available to the public. The Annual Investment Strategy for 2019/20 was shown as Appendix B to the report. Increasing cash balances and the potential consequences of a disorderly Brexit made it necessary to consider increasing certain counterparty limits and amending the minimum country sovereign credit rating. It had increasingly become the case that UK branches of non UK domiciled banks were sending deposits raised in the UK back to their home countries, hence the recommendation to amend "UK Private Banks" to "Private Banks" in order to avoid losing valuable counterparties. It was not considered that this posed any significant threat to the security of the Council's investments in such banks.

The Council had to make provision for the repayment of its outstanding long term debt and other forms of long term borrowing such as Finance Leases. Statutory guidance issued by Communities and Local Government (CLG) required that a statement on the Council's policy for its annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) should be submitted to full Council for approval before the start of the financial year to which it related and this was contained in Appendix C to the report.

The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities which was last revised in 2018 introduced new requirements for the manner in which capital spending plans were to be considered and approved and, in conjunction with this, the development of an integrated treasury management strategy. The Prudential Code required the Council to set a number of Prudential Indicators and the report therefore incorporated within Appendix D to the report the indicators to which regard should be given when determining the Council's treasury management strategy for the next three financial years.

An alternative to the strategy being proposed for 2019/20 would be not to alter the current counterparty limits, the minimum sovereign rating and to continue to restrict investments in non UK domiciled banks to UK branches where the funds were not transferred back to the banks' home country. However, this would risk the Council running out of acceptably credit rated counterparties and possibly having to lower its minimum credit ratings below that which it felt comfortable with.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report.

The Executive, therefore,

**Resolved** that the changes to the various Treasury Management Practices as detailed in paragraph 3.1 of the report, be noted; and

#### **Recommended** to Council that

- (1) the Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 as outlined in paragraph 3.2 of the report and contained in Appendix A to the report, be approved;
- (2) the 2019/20 Annual Investment Strategy as outlined in paragraph 3.3 of the report and contained in Appendix B to the report be approved, including the following changes:
  - a. that as per paragraph 1.4 of Appendix B and Annex 2 to Appendix B, the minimum sovereign country rating in respect of investments in counterparties residing outside the United Kingdom be amended from "at least the equivalent of the UK" to a minimum of AA- and that no UK sovereign rating applies to UK domiciled counterparties; and
  - b. the current counterparty limits are increased to those shown in paragraph 2.7 of Appendix B and Annex 2 to Appendix B, and that the condition currently restricting investments in banks to those domiciled in the UK be removed for the reasons outlined in paragraph 2.8 of Appendix B to the report;
- (3) the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement as outlined in paragraph 3.4 of the report and contained in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.4 of Appendix C to the report be approved; and
- (4) the Prudential Indicators as outlined paragraph 3.5 of the report and contained in Appendix D to the report be approved.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Whiting) Forward Plan reference 972

## 143. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget 2019/20 and Housing Rents

The Executive considered a report from Finance and Housing presenting to Members the latest Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets in respect of 2018/19 and 2019/20.

The information contained within the report made the recommendations to Council in respect of setting next year's budgets, the proposed changes to council tenant housing rents, garage rents and other charges for 2019/20.

In July 2015, the Government announced that with effect from April 2016, the rents charged for existing tenants by local authority housing landlords should be reduced by 1% per year, for four years. 2019/20 would be the final year of this reduction.

The 1% rent reduction per annum also applied to supported housing, with 2019/20 being the final year of this reduction.

Specialised supporting housing would remain exempt from this policy for mutual / co-operatives, Alms houses and Community Land Trusts and refuges. However, this Council did not currently have any housing which met these criteria.

From April 2020, a new policy would come into effect, with Councils allowed to increase rents by Consumer Price Index (CPI) (at September) plus 1% per annum.

For new tenancies, landlords were permitted to set the base rent as the Target Social Rent (also known as Formula Rent). In Warwick District's case, this represented a small increase over the social rent charged for tenanted properties and was projected to increase rental income by around £6000 in 2019/20. These tenancies would then be subject to agreed rental policy to comply with the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 2016.

The only exception would be in respect of properties at Sayer Court, Royal Leamington Spa, where the Council had previously approved that tenancies within the new development would be let at Warwick Affordable Rent Levels. Whilst the 1% rent decrease would apply to existing tenants for the coming year, new tenancies established during 2019/20 would be charged at the full Warwick Affordable Rent Value.

Details of all current rents and those proposed as a result of these recommendations were set out in Appendix 1 to the report. A comparison of the Council's social rents with affordable and market rents was set out in Appendix 2 to the report.

The recommendations ensured that the Council was operating in compliance with national policy and guidance on the setting of rents for General Needs and Supported Housing properties.

With regards to Shared Ownership during 2015, the Council took ownership of 15 shared ownership dwellings at Great Field Drive in Southwest Warwick.

Shared owners were required to pay rent on the proportion of their home which they did not own. The shared ownership properties' rent increases were not governed by national Policy.

The Council adopted the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) template lease agreement which included a schedule on rent review. Schedule 4 of the lease agreement determined that the rent would be increased by RPI + 0.5% from April 2019.

Garage rent increases were not governed by national guidance. Any increase that reflected costs of the service, demand, market conditions and the potential for income generation could be considered. The HRA Business Plan base assumption was that garage rents would increase in line with inflation. However, the Council did not have a formal policy for the setting of rents for garages in place.

There were waiting lists for a number of garage sites, whilst other sites had far lower demand; where appropriate, these sites were being considered for future redevelopment as part of the overall garage strategy for the future.

Two different rent charges applied to garages, depending upon whether the renter was an existing Warwick District Council tenant or not. There were also parking spaces and cycle sheds which were charged for.

Market Research showed that in the private sector, garages were being marketed in the District for on average £80 per month (valuations last reviewed January 2016). The average monthly rent for a Council garage was currently £33.50.

Consideration had been made of the level of increase that could be applied to the garages. Unlike housing rents, there was no requirement to reduce garage rents and therefore the proposal was to increase rents to include inflation and a modest rent rise. Last year, Members approved a  $\pounds 4$  rise in garage rents and it was proposed to adopt the same approach this year, with an increase of  $\pounds 4$  per month being recommended across all chargeable areas.

The location of many of the garage sites and quality of the land, landscape and garage condition constrained the levels of rent that could reasonably be achieved. It was considered that many sites required investment to improve their condition, provide greater community benefits, extend the life or accommodate the development of additional affordable housing. The Housing Service had started a review of garage sites to determine their optimum potential as an asset of the HRA. Most sites would simply require some form of fairly modest improvement, such as to rooves or to the hardstanding. Others might require more significant work or might benefit from a more strategic redesign and realignment with

contemporary expectations. In addition, the garages and external areas at key high rise sites such as at The Crest were in need of some redesign and modernisation. The proposal was to undertake a detailed redesign of the external environments at the high rise blocks and to detail the requirements for improving sites as they were discounted for their potential for new development. The recommendation of a budget of up to £100k would enable this work to be taken forward.

Any additional income generated for the service would help to alleviate the loss of rental income from dwellings and ensure the continuous viability of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.

Should Members approve the recommendation, projected income for 2019/20 would increase by a net £84,000 compared to 2018/19.

Alongside the rent increase, a review of garage voids had indicated that on average, 15% of the total garage stock was void throughout the year, worth £125,000 in potential income. The proposed work to review each site had the potential to reduce the level of voids and possibly to attract additional income.

For tenants, most garage rents would increase by 92p per week (£4 per month), from £7.99 to £8.91. Non-tenants also paid VAT on the charge, so it would increase by £1.10 per week, from £9.59 to £10.69.

With regards to the HRA budgets, the Council was required to set a budget for the HRA each year, approving the level of rents and other charges that were levied. The Executive made recommendations to Council that took into account the base budgets for the HRA and current Government guidance on national rent policy.

The dwelling rents had been adjusted to take account of the loss of rent resulting from actual and anticipated changes in property numbers for 2018/19 and 2019/20. This included additional rental income from the five new build properties at Cloister Way which were due to be purchased and subsequently let to tenants, and changes based on the number of Right-To-Buy sales in 2018/19, and those forecasted for 2019/20.

Shared ownership property rents would increase by RPI  $\pm$  0.5% in accordance with the terms of the lease. As at November 2018, RPI was 3.2%, therefore the income budget had been increased by £2,700.

The garages rental income budget had been increased by £33,100 to take into account the £4 per month increase in charges for 2019/20 and current level of voids.

Full details of the Budget would be included within the Budget Book which would be available to Members ahead of Budget / Rents Setting by Council, a summary of which was provided in Appendix 3 to the report.

The Housing Investment Programme was presented as part of the separate February 2019 report 'General Fund 2019/20 Budget and Council Tax' (Ref 969).

The recommendations would enable the proposed latest Housing Investment Programme to be carried out and contribute available resources to the HRA Capital Investment Reserve for future development whilst maintaining a minimum working balance on the HRA of at least £1.5m in line with Council policy.

In terms of alternative options for garage rents, the Council had discretion over the setting of garage rents. Each 1% change in garage rents resulted in an increase or decrease of potential income of around £6,900 per year.

It would be possible to set Garage rents higher than those proposed to maximise income. However, significantly higher rents might make garages harder to let and therefore reduce income. Similarly, rents could also be reduced, but this would reduce income to the HRA Budget when it was needed.

The Council did have the discretion to decrease dwellings rents for existing tenants by more than the 1% prescribed. However, this would reduce the level of income for the HRA, which in turn could impact upon the viability of future projects.

The Council did not have the discretion to change the rent schedule for existing shared ownership dwellings, which was determined by the existing terms of the lease.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report.

The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Phillips, proposed the report with a correction to Recommendation 2.1 to read "be reduced by 1% for 2019/20", not 2018/19.

The Executive, therefore,

#### **Recommended** to Council that

- (1) rents for all tenanted dwellings (excluding shared ownership) be reduced by 1% for 2019/20;
- (2) HRA dwelling rents for all new tenancies created in 2019/20 be set at Target Social (Formula) Rent, or at Warwick Affordable rent for Sayer Court properties;
- (3) shared ownership rents are increased by RPI plus 0.5% in line with the lease agreement, be noted;

- (4) garage rents for 2019/20 be increased by £4 per month;
- (5) a budget of £100k be set aside to support the delivery of improvements to the HRA garage sites and to environmental improvements at the high rise schemes; and
- (6) the latest 2018/19 and 2019/20 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets as detailed in Appendix 3 to the report, be agreed.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Phillips) Forward Plan reference 971

#### 144. Election of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council 2019/20

In accordance with Procedure Rules, Councillor Illingworth was recommended to be elected as the Chairman and Councillor Ashford was recommended to be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2019/20.

The Executive, therefore,

#### **Recommended** to Council that

- (1) Councillor Illingworth be elected as the Chairman of the Council for 2019/20; and
- (2) Councillor Ashford be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2019/20.

#### 145. 2019/20 General Fund Budget and Council Tax

The Executive considered a report from Finance informing Members of the Council's financial position, bringing together the latest and original Budgets for 2018/19 and 2019/20, and the Medium Term Forecasts until 2023/24. In doing so, it advised upon the net deficit from 2023/24 and the savings required to balance future years' budgets.

The report would be presented to Council, alongside a separate report recommending the overall Council Tax Charges 2019/20 for Warwick District Council.

Despite significant cuts in Government Funding, the Council had been able to set a balanced budget for 2019/20 without having to reduce the services it provided. This had been the case for many years as a result of the Fit for the Future Programme it had adopted. It had not had to rely on New Homes Bonus to support core revenue spending and had been able to allocate this funding to project work and replenish reserves. Alongside this, the Council had achieved a surplus on its 2018/19 budget. However,

the Council's financial projections showed that further savings needed to be secured from 2020/21 onwards.

By law, the Council had to set a balanced budget before the beginning of the financial year. It had to levy a council tax from its local tax payers to meet the gap between expenditure and resources available.

It was prudent to consider the medium term rather than just the next financial year, taking into account the longer term implications of decisions in respect of 2019/20. Hence, Members received a five-year Financial Strategy, Capital Programme and Reserves Schedule.

The Local Government Act 2004, Section 3, stated that the Council had to set an authorised borrowing limit. The Chartered Instituted of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities stated the Council should annually approve Prudential Indicators.

The Chief Financial Officer was required to report on the robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. This statement was attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

Within the Base Budget report considered by the Executive in January 2019, the 2018/19 Budget was showing a surplus of £3,800. These figures had now been updated, with the most notable changes being:

- reduction in interest on borrowing reduced to reflect use of internal borrowing to fund leisure centre project rather than use external borrowing. As a consequence of this, the Council was receiving reduced investment receipts. Net benefit to General Fund £125,000;
- the legal fees in respect of the Compulsory Purchase Order agreed by Executive in November 2018 of £30,000 had been included within the budget financed from the Contingency Budget;
- planning income was estimated to exceed the current estimate of £1.5m by £200,000. This would be offset by the allocation required to the Planning Investment Reserve in respect of the 20% fee increase (£31,700) and an additional £33,300 expenditure required on consultants as a consequence of the increase in applications (£33,300)
- street naming and numbering income projected to be £22,000 below budget;
- homelessness disbursements projected to be £30,000 over budget;
- valuation advice extra £10,800.

The projected 2018/19 budget now showed a projected surplus of £138,000, the treatment of which was considered in Section 3.13 in the report.

The Base Budget report showed that the 2019/20 Budget had an estimated surplus of £19,100. The following notable changes had subsequently been made to this base budget:

- additional Planning fees income, net of the 20% increase due to go to the Planning Investment Reserve £116,600;
- Community Infrastructure Levy administration "top slice", £60,000 income, to be included within 2019/20 S123 list;
- advertising income an additional £100,000 was previously included in the budget. More detailed scrutiny of the potential sites suggested this should more realistically be reduced to £15,000 for 2019/20 and £27,000 in subsequent years, so impacting upon the Medium Term Financial Strategy;
- the savings from the proposed local lottery of £30,000 had been removed from the 2019/20 Budget and were forecasted to start from 2020/21. This would be subject to a future Executive report;
- Performance Management following the recent Peer Challenge, £30,000 had been provided as support to CMT;
- Pay Award and auto enrolment The 2019/20 pay award had been agreed. This provided for an overall increase of 2% and extra enhancements for lower grades due to the impact of the National Living Wage. This was coming in below the sum previously allowed for, so enabling £98,000 to be released back to the General Fund. In addition, the impact of the Auto Enrolment was costing less, £31,900;
- the borrowing for the recent leisure centre improvements was now assumed to take place mid 2019/20. The net impact on the debt cost and investment interest was estimated to be £134,000; and
- increased postage costs £10,500.

The projected Collection Fund Balance as at 31 March 2019 had been calculated to be a surplus of £1,320,500. This reflected the increased growth in new domestic properties in the District and the resultant increased tax base. Warwickshire County Council and the Warwickshire Police and Crime Commissioner were duly notified of their shares on 15 January 2019. This Council's share was £143,000 which had been factored into the 2019/20 Budget as a one-off item.

Taking into account all known changes, the 2019/20 budget showed a surplus of £99,000. As previously mentioned, the treatment of this was considered in section 3.13 of the report.

The Government announced the provisional 2019/20 Finance Settlement in December. The Final settlement was expected to be confirmed soon, ahead of the Council being due to agree its 2019/20 Budget and Council Tax in February. No changes were expected to the Final Settlement, but Members would be duly informed if necessary.

As previously announced as part of the four-year Spending Settlement (2016/17 to 2019/20), this Council would not be receiving any Revenue Support Grant for 2019/20.

Members were reminded that earlier Government figures for 2019/20 included "Tariff Adjustments", which would reduce the Council's element of retained Business Rates. These adjustments were widely seen as being "Negative Revenue Support Grant" (Negative RSG). For Warwick District Council, the adjustment was to amount to a further reduction in funding for 2019/20 of £237k. Nationally, the Tariff Adjustments came to £153m. As expected, as part of the provisional settlement, the Government had announced additional funding to remove the Negative RSG. The Council's financial projections had already allowed for this change. With Revenue Support Grant no longer existing from 2020/21, this adjustment was expected to be subsumed within the 2020/21 Settlement figures for Business Rate Retention, as detailed in Section 3.5 of the report.

The Provisional Settlement also included an additional £180 million for local authorities which was funded from the surplus on the Business Rate Retention levy/safety net account. This authority's share was £52,000, which represented a one-off increase to the Council's resources for 2019/20. In line with other changes in business rate income, this would be allocated initially to the Business Rate Retention Volatility Reserve.

Projecting the Council's element of Business Rate Retention continued to present difficulties. The problems involved in forecasting this were detailed in Section 3.5 of the report.

Appeals – there were still many appeals awaiting determination by the Valuation Office. An assessment of the success of these needed to be made and suitable provision had been allowed for within the estimated figures. Whilst it was hoped that this figure was suitably prudent, given the size and nature of some of the appeals, there remained a risk. April 2017 saw the introduction of the new "Check, Challenge, Appeal" regime seeking to expedite appeals and deter speculative appeals. Following previous revaluations, backdated appeals continued to be lodged for several years. The number of new appeals coming forward since April 2017 was minimal. However, it was still expected that a significant number of appeals would come forward in subsequent years that would be backdated to 2017. It was necessary for an estimate of these future appeals to be allowed for in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 Estimates.

From 2020/21, the existing Baselines within the Business Rate Retention would be re-set. This would reflect the spending needs of individual local authorities (as to be determined by the Fair Funding Review currently ongoing, for which consultation responses were sought by February 2019). The review would also reflect the updated business rate bases of local authorities. It remained to be seen what growth in the local business rate base since 2013/14 would be allowed to be retained by local authorities.

75% Business Rates Retention – The original intention was to move to a 100% scheme from 2019/20. Due to limited Government time to consider this matter, it was now proposed that a scheme based around 75% retention would be brought in in 2020/21, using existing Regulations, without the need to introduce new legislation. A Government consultation

document had been issued, for which responses were requested by February 2019.

As with all local authorities, 2020/21 represented a significant risk to the Council's finances with the intended changes to Business Rate Retention. If the Council's share of Business Rates returned to the Baseline, this would represent a potential reduction of over £1m in funding. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) allowed for a reduction in funding back to the Baseline. However, this was being mitigated by the use of approximately £600k from the Business Rate Retention Volatility Reserve from 2020/21. The use of the reserve at this level would not be sustainable indefinitely based on current assumptions.

Whilst the estimates from 2020/21 were very uncertain, many local authorities would be severely impacted, potentially many far greater than Warwick District Council, due to the significant growth in their Business Rates base since 2013/14. With potentially substantial swings in local government funding, it was likely that some sort of safety net would need to be allowed for so as to give authorities time to manage large swings in their funding. The future information and figures from the Government would continue to be monitored, with the impact included in the Council's MTFS.

Volatility - Largely due to the regulations governing the accounting arrangements for business rates retention, there could be substantial volatility between years in the amount of retained business rates credited to the General Fund. Consequently, it was necessary to maintain a Volatility Reserve to "smooth" the year on year sums received.

For 2019/20, the net Business Rates Retention to the General Fund (the Council's share of Business Rates, +/- contribution from/to the Business Rates Retention Volatility Reserve) had been increased to £4.532m. This was believed to still be a prudent estimate. The NNDR1 form, which estimated the business rates for 2019/20, was still being finalised. This would produce some of the final figures that fed into the Business Rates Retention income for the Council for the year. It was not expected that there would be any great variation in the NNDR1 and what had been allowed in the proposed Budget. However, should there be any variation, this would be accommodated within the Business Rate Volatility Reserve.

The Executive agreed in the Autumn that the Council would apply to be part of the proposed Warwickshire 75% Business Rates Retention Pooling Pilot for 2019/20. It was understood that there were many applications to be Pilot Pools, of which 15 were accepted. The Warwickshire application was not successful. Therefore, the Council should continue to be a member of the Coventry and Warwickshire Pool for 2019/20 under the current 50% Business Rate Retention scheme.

The Business Rates Retention figures within the MTFS were believed to be reasonably prudent, taking into account all the above factors. These figures would continue to be reviewed and Members would be informed of changes as the MTFS was presented in future reports.

As announced within the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, District Councils could increase their share of the Council Tax by the greater of up to 3% and £5 without triggering a referendum. This was in line with the 2018/19 limits.

The national average council tax for district councils was £180.67, and £223.48 including parish/town council precepts. This Council's council tax charge for 2018/19 was £161.86 (excluding parish and town council precepts). This Council's charge was in the second lowest quartile and when Town and Parish Precepts were included, it fell within the lowest quartile.

The Council Tax Base was calculated in November of last year, with the Council's preceptors being notified accordingly. As reported to Members in November 2018 within the Q2 Budget Review Report, the Tax Base for 2019/20 was £55,577.17 Band D Equivalents. This was an increase of over 1,000 properties to the figures previously factored into the Financial Strategy for 2019/20. The increased forecast growth in the tax base had been factored into the MTFS. This clearly impacted upon the Council's estimated council tax income.

The Council's element of the Council Tax was calculated by taking its total budget requirement, subtracting the total funding from Central Government in respect of Revenue Support Grant (RSG), now zero, and Retained Business Rates (details of which were included in Sections 3.4 and 3.5 of the report). This figure was divided by the 2019/20 tax base to derive the District Council Band D Council Tax Charge.

The recommendations within the report produced a Band D Council Tax for Warwick District (excluding parish/town council precepts) for 2019/20 of £166.86, this being a £5 increase on that of 2018/19. Based on this increase, the District's element of the Council Tax for each of the respective bands would be:

	£
Band A	111.24
Band B	129.78
Band C	148.32
Band D	166.86
Band E	203.94
Band F	241.02
Band G	278.10
Band H	333.72

A £5 increase in council tax would generate an additional £278,000 in 2019/20. Maintaining increases of this magnitude up to 2023/24 would generate an additional £1.5m. This had been included within the projections in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Section 3.8 of the report). It was important that the Council continued to maintain this income base into future years. Costs would continue to face inflationary increases. In addition, there remained threats to the Council's other income streams, most notably its share of Business Rate Retention.

Parish and town councils throughout the district were asked to submit their precepts for 2019/20 when informed of their Tax Bases. At the time of writing the report, not all precepts had been confirmed. It was estimated that the precepts would total just over £1,500,000 based on prior years.

In the Provisional Finance Settlement, the Government had announced it would continue to defer the setting of referendum principles for town and parish councils, on the conditions that:

- the sector continued to take all available steps to mitigate the need for council tax increases, including the use of reserves where they were not already earmarked for other uses or for "invest to save" projects which would lower ongoing costs; and
- the Government seeing clear evidence of restraint in the increases set by the sector.

The Government said it would keep this area under active review.

The Council Tax was set by aggregating the council tax levels calculated by the major precepting authorities (the County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner) and the parish/town councils for their purposes with those for this Council. The report to the Council Meeting on 20 February 2019 would provide all the required details. This would be e-mailed to all Members as soon as possible following the Police and Crime Commissioner and Warwickshire County Council meetings, which were both due to be held on 6 February. At the time of writing the report, it was assumed that all the Town/Parish Precepts would have been returned. The Council would then be in a position to:

- (a) consider the recommendations from the Executive as to the Council Tax for district purposes; and
- (b) formally set the amount of the council tax for each Parish/Town, and within those areas for each tax band, under Section 30 of the 1992 Local Government Finance Act.

Members were reminded of their fiduciary duty to the Council Taxpayers of Warwick District Council. Members had a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acted lawfully. They were under an obligation to produce a balanced budget and should not knowingly budget for a deficit. Members should not come to a decision that no reasonable authority could come to,

balancing the nature, quality and level of services that they considered should be provided, against the costs of providing such services.

Should Members wish to propose additions or reductions to the budget, on which no information was given in the report, they had to present sufficient information on the justification for and consequences of their proposals to enable the Executive (or the Council) to arrive at a reasonable decision. The report set out relevant considerations for Members to bear in mind during their deliberations, including the statement at Appendix 1 to the report from the Chief Financial Officer.

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 stated that any Member who had not paid their Council Tax or any instalment for at least two months after it became due and which remained unpaid at the time of the meeting, had to declare that at the meeting and not vote on any matter relating to setting the budget or making of the Council Tax and related calculations.

This Council's New Homes Bonus (NHB) for 2019/20 was £3,359k. This was an increase from the £2,482k awarded for 2018/19.

The NHB calculations were still based on the following parameters:

- since 2018/19 funding was based on four years (this previously being six years);
- the baseline of 0.4% had continued for 2019/20. New Homes Bonus was only awarded on growth above this level. There was the possibility that the baseline was to be increased, this remained a risk for the future. For Warwick District Council, for 2019/20 the 0.4% baseline represented 253 dwellings. With the total growth of 1,157 Band D properties, the 2019/20 allocation was based on 904 properties. The baseline was reducing the New Homes Bonus 2019/20 allocation by £423,000.

To date, this Council had used the money to fund various schemes and initiatives and replenish some of its Reserves, and unlike many local authorities, had not used NHB to support core services. It continued to be the Council's policy to exclude NHB in projecting future funding.

As in previous years, Waterloo Housing would receive part of this allocation from their agreement with the Council to deliver affordable Housing in the District. £146,166 was due to be paid to Waterloo Housing in 2019/20. Section 3.13 of the report detailed how it was proposed to allocate the Residual Balance for 2019/20.

When Members approved the 2018/19 Budget in February 2018, the Medium Term Financial Strategy showed that the Council would be in deficit by some £699,000 by 2022/23, as depicted below.

	2019/20 £'000	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000	2022/23 £'000
Deficit-Savings Required(+)/Surplus(-) future years	607	81	929	699
Change on previous year	607	-526	848	-230

Since then, Members had received later projections in the quarterly Budget Review Reports in August and November of this year. These Reports had highlighted any major changes.

One of the most significant changes between the forecasts presented to Members in February of each year was always the impact of rolling the forecasts forward a further year. Whilst there was additional income from an increased Taxbase and the Band D charge, alongside the growth in the Leisure Concessions Contract, this was more than offset by inflation and other unavoidable commitments such as pensions. By adding 2023/24 to the prediction in the table above, the savings required increased by some £0.5 million before adding any new developments.

There had been many changes to staffing budgets during the year which had already been reported to Members, the most significant of these being restructure of the Assets Team, £81,000, Finance changes, £88,000, making the Car Parks Project Manager permanent, £49,000 and changes within the Bereavement Service, £40,000.

Income to the Council would increase more than that forecast in February 2018. The most notable sources of this were £224,000 from the growth in the Tax Base in 2019/20 and £145,000 Fees and Charges Income above the 2% factored in. In addition, the increase in planning fees, discussed in paragraph 3.3.1 of the report, £116,600 had also been included as a recurring item into future years.

As part of the 2019/20 Budget Setting Process, it was established that two budgets were inadequate to fund unavoidable Costs. The Repairs and Maintenance Programme had been increased by £96,000 and the net cost of Housing Benefit Subsidy by £97,000.

The following savings had been re-profiled to reflect more likely timeframes:

- Office Relocation £300,000 saving forecast to start January 2022 (nine-month delay);
- Town Hall saving £85,000 saving forecast to start April 2022 (ninemonth delay); and
- Local Lottery £30,000 saving forecast to start April 2020 (as detailed in paragraph 3.3.1 of the report).

Taking into account the above changes, the savings to be found within the Medium Term Financial Strategy were:

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Deficit-Savings Required(+)/Surplus(-) future years	330	1,025	456	574
Change on previous year	330	695	-569	118

Appendix 5 to the report showed the summary pages from the MTFS. The further detailed pages were intended to be available ahead of this report being considered by Members, and would be included in the Budget Book which would be available before the 20 February 2019 Council meeting.

The profile of the increased savings included the anticipated increased costs when some of the contracts were re-let to commence April 2021. From 2022/23 the savings to be found reduced as the savings relating to the office re-location, Town Hall and Senior Management review were due to commence.

A Fit For the Future report was due to be brought to the Executive in July 2019 which would detail progress on savings and other projects currently being worked upon. In addition, it would include proposals for further savings or income generation.

As discussed in section 3.5 of the report, the level of savings to be made was very much dependant on the income that the Council received from Business Rate Retention. From 2020/21, prudent assumptions had been made as to what the level of this income would be. The financial projections would be updated as more information was available about the likely level of future business rate income.

Members agreed that £1.5m should be the minimum level for the core General Fund Balance. This balance supported the Council for future unforeseen demands upon its resources. In order to consider a reasonable level of general reserves, a risk assessment had been done and was contained at Appendix 4 to the report. This showed the requirement for the General Fund balance of over £1.5 million against the risks identified.

The General Fund had many specific Earmarked Reserves. These were attached at Appendix 5 to the report, showing the actual and projected balances from April 2018, along with the purposes for which each reserve was held. Finance and Audit Scrutiny Committee was especially asked to scrutinise this element and pass comment to Executive.

Those reserves which showed a significant change in the overall balance in the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2023 were detailed in Section 3.9.3 of the report and also shown in Appendix 5 to the report. They included: Business Rates Volatility Reserve, Car Parking Repairs and Maintenance

Reserve, Community Projects Reserve, Corporate Asset Reserve, ICT Replacement Reserve, Equipment Renewal, Homelessness Reserve etc.

There were various small reserves which, for one reason or another, it was appropriate to close at the end of 2018/19 and transfer the balances to other reserves. The proposed closures together with reasons and which reserve the balances were being transferred to were:

- Art Fund Reserve transfer balance of £75k to the Art Gallery Gift Reserve in order to rationalise the number of Art Gallery Reserves;
- Energy Management Reserve transfer balance of £112k to the Corporate Assets Reserve as the Energy Management Reserve was effectively redundant and to reduce duplication;
- Rent Bond Reserve transfer balance of £22k balance to Homelessness Reserve in order to reduce duplication as both reserves deal with the homeless; and
- Right to Bid and Right to Challenge Reserves transfer balances of £20k and £26k respectively to the Community Projects Reserve as both reserves had never been used and any subsequent expenditure could be met from the Contingency budget.

Drawing down funding from some of the reserves could result in excessive administration and delay, especially where formal Executive approval was required. To assist in this, it was proposed to amend the delegations to the relevant Head of Service, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and Head of Finance. Any such allocations would be subsequently reported within a future report. The reserves where it was proposed to amend the delegations were:

#### Reserve

Planning Reserve
Building Control Reserve
Service Transformation Reserve

#### **Delegated to**

Head of Development Services Head of Development Services Chief Executive

In accordance with the Council's Code of Financial Practice, all new and future capital schemes had to be in line with the Council's corporate priorities, including its capital strategy (detailed in Appendix 11 to the report) and a full business case would be required as part of reports to the Executive for approval. This case would identify the means of funding and, where appropriate, an options appraisal exercise would be carried out. Should there be any additional revenue costs arising from the project, the proposed means of financing such must also be included in the Report and Business Plan.

The Capital Programme had been updated throughout the year as new, and changes to, projects had been approved. In addition to the changes throughout the year, it was proposed to add several new schemes to the Capital Programme as detailed in Section 3.10.2 and Appendix 8 to the report.

Minute 139 concerning the St Mary's Lands Masterplan included schemes which impacted on the Capital Programme. These had been incorporated in the Capital Programme, as detailed in Section 3.10.3 of the report.

In addition to the new projects incorporated in Sections 3.10.2 and 3.10.3 of the report, investment in replacement multi storey car parks, Office relocation and Europa Way Community Stadium capital projects were expected to come forward over the next few years.

Slippage to 2019/20 in the General Fund Programme had been incorporated as reported during the year. In addition, a table included in Section 3.10.6 of the report showed the additional changes to current schemes that were required to be reported to Members. The full details were included within Appendix 8 to the report.

Appendix 9 to the report, Part 5, showed the General Fund unallocated capital resources. These totalled £1.789.4m. The Capital Investment Reserve represented the largest share of this at £1.13m, for which the Council had agreed the minimum balance should be £1m. Whilst the Council did hold other reserves to fund capital projects, it would be noted that these were limited and had been reserved for specific purposes. In addition to the resources shown here, within the Housing Investment Resources, the Right to Buy "Any Purposes Capital Receipts" projected at £7.63m (Appendix 9 to the report, Part 4) were available to fund non Housing schemes.

The latest Housing Investment Programme (HIP) was shown at Appendix 9 to the report, Part 2.

Appendix 8 to the report detailed variations to the HIP from the programme approved as part of the February 2018 budget report. This included new schemes approved during 2018/19, changes to current schemes, and slippage from 2017/18.

Appendix 9 to the report, Part 4, showed the funding of the HIP and the forecast balances at year end until 31 March 2023 after the HIP had been financed.

The Capital receipts primarily related to Right to Buy (RTB) sales. The Council had freedom on how the purpose receipts were utilised, being able to fund General Fund and Housing Capital schemes.

1-4-1 RTB receipts had to be utilised in replacing housing stock that had been purchased from the Council by existing tenants through the RTB scheme. This could be through new build properties (such as Sayer Court), the purchase of existing properties (such as Cloister Way) or buying back of existing council properties previously sold through RTB. However, they could only be used to fund up to 30% of the replacement cost as per RTB regulations. If the funding was not used within a three-year period from the date of receipt, the funding would be repayable to the Government, along with interest. It was envisaged that there would be no requirement to repay any 1-4-1 receipts to the Government as they

would be utilised to finance current or potential schemes within the Housing Investment Programme. Within the current Housing Investment Programme, there were schemes for the acquisition of properties during 2019/20, as agreed by Members. This would fully utilise the 1-4-1 funding that the Council currently held and would receive in 2019/20, with it projected to have a zero 1-4-1 balance as at 31 March 2020. The projections showed that a further £1.4m per annum would be available thereafter for further schemes, with this funding having to be used within the three-year timescale.

The HRA Capital Investment Reserve was funded by the surpluses generated on the Housing Revenue Account. The HRA Business Plan assumed that this funding would be used for the provision of new HRA stock, and to allow debt repayments on the £136.2m loan taken out to purchase the HRA housing stock to commence from 2052/53.

The Major Repairs Reserve was used to fund capital repairs of the HRA stock. The contributions to this reserve were based on depreciation calculations.

Section 106 were payments received from developers in lieu of them providing new on site affordable homes, enabling the Council to increase the HRA stock or assisting housing associations to provide new dwellings. These S106 payments usually had a time limit attached to them by which time they needed to be utilised or they might need to be repaid to the developers.

The Right to Buy Capital Receipts were shown within the sources of Housing Investment Programme funding. As considered previously by Members, these capital receipts were not ring-fenced and could be used for any capital projects.

The Council was required to determine an authorised borrowing limit in accordance with The Local Government Act 2004, Section 3, and to agree prudential indicators in accordance with the CIPFA Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

The Indicators were shown at Appendix 12 to the report. Further indicators were included within the Treasury Management Strategy Report, Minute Number 142.

From 2019/20, the CIPFA revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes required all local authorities to prepare a capital strategy, which would provide the following:

- a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contributed to the provision of services;
- an overview of how the associated risk was managed; and
- the implications for future financial sustainability.

The aim of this capital strategy was to ensure that all elected Members on the Council fully understood the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. The requirement for a Capital Strategy from CIPFA was as a result of many local authorities investing large sums in non-treasury assets, often to secure a financial return, or for other purposes.

This capital strategy was reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments such as acquisition of Investment Properties or Loans to Third parties would be reported through the Capital Strategy. This ensured the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset. The capital strategy endeavoured to show:

- The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;
- Any service objectives relating to the investments;
- The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;
- The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;
- The payback period (Minimum Revenue Policy policy);
- For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value;
- The risks associated with each activity.

Where a physical asset was being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and their monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information would be disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.

Where the Council had borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be an explanation of why borrowing was required. The proposed Capital Strategy was included as Appendix 11 to the report. This would be subject to further review during 2019/20, notably in respect of the implications coming out of the Asset Management Strategy that was being produced in forthcoming months. The intention was that the Capital Strategy was a corporate document that supported the whole of the Council's capital expenditure and funding.

The 2018/19 Revenue Budget showed a surplus of £138,000, with 2019/20 showing £99,000. It was proposed that these balances were used to create a Contingency Budget for 2019/20 of £237,000.

New Homes Bonus remained the major source of additional funding over which the Council had discretion as to how it was used, as discussed in section 3.7 of the report.

It was proposed to use the New Homes Bonus as below:

Waterloo Housing Association	£146,200
Leisure Options Phase 2, as discussed in January Executive report	£550,000

CCTV – as discussed in July 2018 Executive report, subject to further report post tenders	£1,000,000
Commonwealth Games Reserve – as discussed in March 2019 Executive report. Allocation to include funding of Commonwealth Officer. Future years contributions form NHB planned.	£100,000
Public Amenity Reserve – to fund green space and play area works, to be supplemented with use of Public Open Spaces Planning Gain Reserve	£101,000
St Marys Land – subject to separate Executive report *	£260,000
Sea Scouts HQ – as discussed in July 2018 Executive report *	£150,000
Norton Lindsay Village Hall – as discussed in October 2018 Executive report *	£190,000
Community Projects Reserve	£499,800
Service Transformation Reserve	£362,000
* These allocations will be carried forward in the Community Projects Reserve on 31 March 2020 if not fully utilised by that date.	

With regards to the Retail Discount (Non Domestic Rates), the Government announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018 that it would provide a business rates Retail Discount scheme for occupied retail properties with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019-20 and 2020-21. The value of discount should be one third of the bill, and had to be applied after mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants had been applied. The Government was not changing the legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead, the Government would reimburse local authorities that used their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act (under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant relief. It would be for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and determine in each individual case when, having regard to this quidance, to grant relief under section 47. Central government would fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003).

Since 2013, local authorities in England had the discretion to charge a premium of up to 50% on 'long-term empty dwellings' – meaning homes that had been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least two years. This Council adopted this discretion on the basis that it would be an incentive for owners to bring empty properties into use. The premium was in addition to the usual council tax charge that applied to the property. A Bill was laid in order to allow Councils to increase these empty property

premiums and this received Royal Assent on 1 November 2018 and was now law.

This new law gave Councils the option to charge the following premiums for long term empty dwellings and thus strengthened the incentive for owners to bring empty properties back into use:

Financial Year 2019/20

- Maximum of 100% premium (previously 50%)
   Financial Year 2020/21
- Maximum of 100% premium empty less than five years
- Maximum of 200% premium empty at least five years
   Financial Year 2021 onwards
- Maximum of 100% premium empty less than five years
- Maximum of 200% premium empty at least five years but less than ten years
- Maximum of 300% premium empty at least ten years.

In terms of alternative options, the Council did not have an alternative to setting a Budget for the forthcoming year. Members could, however, decide to amend the way in which the budget was broken down or not to revise the current year's Budget. However, the proposed latest 2018/19 and 2019/20 budgets were based upon the most up to date information. Any changes to the proposed budgets would need to be fully considered to ensure all implications (financial or otherwise) were addressed.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report but raised a number of concerns about the strategic overview of Reserves and the manner in which they were reported to Members.

In the absence of Councillor Whiting, Portfolio Holder for Finance, the report was proposed by Councillor Mobbs, with an amendment to recommendation 2.4 to read "with a surplus of £99,000", not £88,000.

The Executive, therefore,

#### **Recommended** to Council that

- (1) the proposed changes to 2018/19 Budgets detailed in Section 3.2 of the report, be approved;
- (2) the Revised 2018/19 Budget of Net Expenditure of £19,432,400 as set out in Appendix 2 to the report after allocating a surplus of £138,000, as detailed in paragraph 3.2.2 of the report, be approved;
- (3) the proposed changes to 2019/20 Base
  Budgets detailed in Section 3.3 of the report,
  be approved;

- (4) the proposed Budget for 2019/20 with Net Expenditure of £18,058,600 taking into account the changes detailed in section 3.3 of the report, with a surplus of £99,000, and which is summarised in Appendix 2 to the report, be approved;
- (5) the Council Tax charges for Warwick District Council for 2019/20 before the addition of Parish/Town Councils, Warwickshire County Council and Warwickshire Police and Crime Commissioner precepts, for each band be agreed by Council as follows and as detailed in Section 3.6.7 of the report:

of the report:	
	£
Band A	111.24
Band B	129.78
Band C	148.32
Band D	166.86
Band E	203.94
Band F	241.02
Band G	278.10
Band H	333.72

- (6) the Medium Term Financial Strategy and the future savings still to be made, which will be considered within the Fit For the Future July Executive report, as detailed in paragraph 3.8 of the report, be noted;
- (7) the ICT Replacement and Equipment Renewal Schedules as shown in Section 3.9.3 of the report, be approved;
- (8) the use of the Corporate Asset Reserve to complete the works required to stop unauthorised access to Council sites as detailed in Section 3.9.3 of the report and the transfers between General Fund reserves and changes in delegations as detailed in Sections 3.9.4 and 3.9.5 of the report, be approved;

- (9) the General Fund Capital and Housing
  Investment Programmes as detailed in
  Appendices 9 parts 1 and 2 to the report,
  together with the funding of both programmes
  as detailed in Appendices 9 parts 3 and 4 and
  the changes described in the tables in
  paragraph 3.10 and Appendix 8 to the report,
  be approved;
- (10) the Prudential indicators as described in paragraph 3.11 and Appendix 12 to the report, be approved;
- (11) the Capital Strategy as detailed in paragraph 3.12 and Appendix 11 to the report, be approved;
- (12) the Financial Strategy as set out in paragraph4.2 and Appendix 10 to the report, be approved;
- (13) the 2018/19 and 2019/20 budgeted surpluses be allocated to form a Contingency Budget of £237,000 for 2019/20 (paragraph 3.13.1 of the report);
- (14) the 2019/20 proposed New Homes Bonus of £3,359,000 be allocated as follows, as detailed in paragraph 3.13.3 of the report:

New Homes Bonus – 2019/20 Allocation	£
Waterloo Housing Association	146,200
St. Mary's Lands	260,000
Commonwealth Games Reserve	100,000
Service Transformation	499,800
Reserve	
Community Projects Reserve	362,000
Sea Scout's Headquarters	150,000
CCTV	1,000,000
Green Space / Play Areas	101,000
Norton Lindsey Village Hall	190,000
Leisure Developments Phase 2	550,000
- Kenilworth	
Total Allocated	3,359,000

#### Resolved that

- (1) the Business Rate Relief as specified in paragraph 3.14.1 of the report and in the guidance issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government following the Budget announcement on 29 October 2018, be agreed by the Executive, using its discretionary powers; and
- (2) the new Council premiums for long term empty and unfurnished dwellings on the levels as prescribed in the report and as per the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 (paragraph 3.14.2), be adopted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Whiting) Forward Plan reference 969

#### Part 2

(Items for which the approval of the Council was not required)

#### 146. Update on Action Plan following Review of Closure of Accounts

The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Chief Executive (AJ) setting out the progress on the action plan that was agreed in the report on the Review of the Closure of 2017/18 Accounts in October 2018.

Appendix 1 to the report set out the monthly progress report on the action plan agreed following the Review of the Closure of the 2017/18 Accounts. The report requested that progress be noted and for the Executive and the Finance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to make any comments.

In terms of alternatives, various actions were considered in the development of the action plan but what was proposed was considered to be an appropriate response to the issues which had been identified.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report and requested that officers highlight for Members those actions which were critical to the timely closure of accounts for 2018/19, and, especially, any risks to that objective being met, for example from slippage in their target completion dates. In addition, the Committee agreed that this item would be added to their own work programme.

The Executive, therefore,

#### **Resolved** that

(1) the content of the action plan at Appendix 1 and the report be noted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Whiting)

#### 147. Public and Press

**Resolved** that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item by reason of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the paragraph of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, following the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as set out below.

Minute Nos.	Para Nos.	Reason
148	1	Information relating to an Individual
	2	Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
148	3	Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)

#### 148. Minutes

The confidential minutes of 9 January 2019 were approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

(The meeting ended at 6.25pm)

CHAIRMAN 6 March 2019